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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO

MADELINE CARDENAS and ROLANDO Civil Action No. 12-00346-S-EJL

MORA-HUERTA,
MEMORANDUM DECISION

Plaintiffs, AND ORDER
VS.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ERIC H.
HOLDER, United StateAttorney General,
JANET NAPOLITANO, in her official
capacity as Secretary of the Department of )
Homeland SecuritfJOHN KERRY, United )
States Secretary of State; IAN BROWNLEE)
Consul General of thenited States, City of )
Ciudad Juarez, JOHN ES 1 — 7, Consular )
Officers, American Consulate General Visa )
Section at Ciudad Juarez,1 )

N N N N N N N N N N

)
Defendants. )

Plaintiffs Madeline Cardenas and Radi@ Mora-Huerta (“Plaintiffs”) filed
the instant action against various governtakdefendants (“Defendants”) seeking
review of the government’s determation that Rolando Mora-Huerta is
inadmissible into the United States under two provisions of the Immigration and

Nationality Act (“INA”), 8 U.S.C. § 110#&t. seq Pending before this Court are

1 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procegl@5(d), the Court substitutes Secretary of
State John Kerry for former Setary Hillary Rodham Clinton.
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Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss under FealeRules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1)
lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and bY) failure to state a claim, (Dkt. 11),
and Plaintiffs’ First Motion to Amend (Dkt. 26).

Having fully reviewed the record, tliourt finds that the facts and legal
arguments are adequately meted in the briefs and recb Accordingly, in the
interest of avoiding furthedelay, and because the Cotwnclusively finds that the
decisional process would not be signifitaraided by oral argument, this matter
shall be decided on the record before @art without oral argument. For the
reasons set forth below, the Court her&RANT S Plaintiffs’ Motion to AmendIn
the interest of judicial economthe Court will accordingly considéfaintiff's First
Amended Complaint when ruling on Defent& Motion to Dismiss. However,
the Court als6SRANTS Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.

BACK GROUND?

Plaintiffs are husband and wifePlaintiff Madeline Cardenas (“Ms.
Cardenas”) is a United Seat citizen who resides in Idaho. Plaintiff Rolando
Mora-Huerta (“Mr. Mora”) isa Mexican citizen who resdes in Mexico. Mr. Mora
lived in the United States illegally from 20@909. During this period, Mr. Mora’s
criminal history consisted of a misdemean@iense (for failure to purchase a valid

driver’s license and minor in possessi@msumption/purchase of alcohol), as well

2 Unless otherwise noted, all facts are rakem Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint
(Dkt. 26-1.)
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as a traffic infraction for speeding. ttever, Mr. Mora wasiever sentenced to
prison nor arrested for a felony while living in the United States.

In June 2008, Mr. Mora was routed into removal proceedings following a
routine traffic stop. On May 4, 2009, Mvlora appeared before an Immigration
Judge to resolve his immigration case. Pursuantto 8 U.S.C. § 1229c, Mr. Mora
applied for and was grantecetbenefit of voluntary depante in lieu of removal.

Mr. Mora complied with the terms oféimmigration Judge’s voluntary departure
order and returned to Mi&o on August 29, 20009.

Ms. Cardenashereaftefiled an immediate-retave petition (Form 1-130) on
behalf of Mr. Mora. Obtaining such atfi®n is generally the initial step in the
immigration process for family membees citizens, lawful permanent residents
and employers may file petitions seekingmigration and Naturalization Service
(“INS”) authorization for the immigration @liens falling within various categories,
such as family members. See8 C.F.R. §§ 204.&t. seq The petition was
approved on September ZH09. When the INS appres a petition, the alien

beneficiary may then apply to a consul#icer for an immigrant visa. 22 C.F.R. 88

3 “Family-sponsored immigration is onetbie primary avenues by which an alien can
obtain lawful permanent residence in thatb States, along with employment-based
immigration, diversity-basednmigration, and asylum.”Cuellar de Osario v. Mayorkas,
656 F.3d 954, 956 (9th Cir. 2011¢¥¢'d en banc on othegrounds, 695 F.311003 (9th Cir.
2012)). The citizen who files an immediate relative petition is the petitioner and the
sponsored immigrant is the primary beneficiangl.
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42.61et. seq Without a visa, the beneficiamgay not enter the United States. 8
U.S.C. § 1181(a).

On March 5, 2010, Mr. Morattended his immigrant visa interview at the
U.S. Consulate in Ciudad Juarez, Mexic®uring his interview, Mr. Mora was
asked repeatedly if he wasa gang, and repeatedlyatd that he was not a gang
member. The consular officasked Mr. Mora to returapproximately three days
later. Upon his return, consular officeéo®k pictures of Mr. Mora’s tattoos, which
include the letter “M” for Mora, the lettéR” for Rolando, Mr. Mora’s parents’
names and dates of birth, Mr. Mora'swplete name, Ms. Cardenas’ hame with a
rose, and a tattoo of two theatrical masksyrabol often referred to as “Smile Now,
Cry Later.”

On July 2, 2010, the consular officgenied Mr. Mora’s immigrant visa
application, finding he was inadssible under 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1182(a)(3)(A)(ii)
(rendering inadmissible “[a]nglien who a consular officar the Attorney General
knows, or has reasonable ground to beliseeks to enter the United States to
engage solely, principally, or incidetiyain ... any other unlawful activity); 8
U.S.C. 8 1182(a)(9)(A)(i) (rendering inatksible any alien previously ordered

removed under certain provisions of 14ygnd 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(9)(B)(i)(I1)

4 The Consular Information Unit later notifiedrMMora that the U.S. Department of State
had revoked its 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(9)(A)(nding because Mr. Mora voluntarily departed
and thus had never been ordered removed.
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(rendering inadmissible for ten years afign unlawfully present in the United
States for one year or more). Quly 13, 2010, Mr. Mora sought further
information underlying the visa denial. On July 20, 2010, an official with the
Consular Information Unit of the U.S. Cartate General for Ciudad Juarez, Mexico
stated in an email to Mr. Mora’s prior counsel that:
At the time of [Mr. Mora’s] June 16, 28&rrest, Mr. Mora was identified as a
gang associate by law enforcement. Tineumstances of Mr. Mora’s arrest,
as well as information gleaned dugithe consular interview, gave the
consular officer sufficient ‘reason to believe’ that Mr. Mora has ties to an
organized street gang. Consequently, Mora is ineligible for a visa and
has no recourse to a waiver.
In addition, pursuant to a request madeer the Freedom of Information Act, Mr.
Mora later obtained a copy of a Forr@13 “Record of Inadmissible Alien,” dated
June 20, 2008, which stated, “MORA wdsntified as a Sureno gang associate ...
by Nampa Police Department” and thatORA was a passengerarvehicle owned
and driven by a [REDACTEDWVho had identifiers consistent to [sic] being a
member of the Sureno gang.”
On September 21, 2010, Mr. Mora sutted evidence to the U.S. Consulate
General in Ciudad Juarez to establish Heais not and has never been a member of

an organized criminal group or gand.he evidence included a letter from Nampa

Police Department Corporal Brandy Suthed of the Special Investigation Unit
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assigned to gangs dated September 13, 2@&t8ittafter “NPD Letter.”). The NPD
Letter states:

After conducting a thorough searchMdmpa Police Department records, |
have been unable to locate any criahigang documentation or contacts that
would indicate Mr. Mora Huéa was a gang member prioror at the time of
his arrest.

In addition, | also examined NPDcaards for the timeframe (06/19/08) in
which you indicated that Mr. Mora Huarwas arrested. | did note that
during that timeframe the Nampaliee Department was conducting a
multi-agency operation called “Street Sweg which is meant to focus law
enforcement efforts on the suppression of gang activity. Agents from
Immigration and Customs EnforcementCare often assigned to assist
Nampa officers during this operation. It is quite possible that Mr. Mora
Huerta was contacted by assisting agesidiuring that timeframe in the City
of Nampa, but that he was not actuallyested by Nampa officers, therefore
there would have been no report placed into the Nampa Police Department
records system.

You also requested | review photostaitoos you sent via email which you
said were on Mr. Mora Huertafgerson. Based on my training and
experience as a Gang Investigatbe tattoos that are shown do not
specifically indicate gang involvementt is common to see the theatrical
masks, often referred to as “SmiNew, Cry Later” on that of a person
affiliated with criminal gang membership, however, this symbol is not
exclusive to gangs. As for the tattadgeople’s names, these do not appear
to be consistent with any gang identifigr.

5 When ruling on a motion to diges for failure to state a claim, the court must normally
convert a Rule 12(b)(6) motion into one fonsuary judgment under Rule 56 if the court
considers evidence oiuds of the pleadings U.S. v. Ritchig342 F.3d 903, 907 (9th Cir.

2003). However, a court may consider certain materials, sucttasidots attached to

the complaint, documenitscorporated by reference in thengplaint, or matters of judicial

notice, without converting the motion tesdhiss into one for summary judgmenid. at

908. Because the Complaint references and quotes the NPD Letter extensively, the Court
will consider the NPD Letter (Dkt. 24-1) witlit converting the Government’s motion to

one for summary judgment. Further, whelingion a Rule 12(b)(1) motion, a court may
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(Dkt. 24-1.)

Mr. Mora’s September 21, 2010 evidengigubmission to the U.S. Consulate
General also included negative results ofimninal records seah performed in the
state of Guanajuato, Mexico, as welladker evidence to support Mr. Mora’s good
moral character. In an e-theo Mr. Mora’s counsel dated February 8, 2012, the
Consular Information Unit of the U.€onsulate General stated that,
notwithstanding “careful review” of thedditional evidence supplied by Mr. Mora’s
legal representative, the inadmissibilitytetenination of July 2, 2010 would not be
overturned.

Mr. Mora thereafter requesteah advisory opinion from the visa office of the
Department of State in Washington, D.GVhile a consular officer’s decision
regarding findings of fact is conclusivegvisory opinions from the Department of
State as to issues of law are bindumgpn the consular officer. 22 C.F.R. 8
42.81(d). Mr. Mora accordingly requedtan advisory opinion on the legal
guestion of whether the “reasonable grountijdjelieve” standard of 8 U.S.C. §
1182(a)(3)(A)(ii) was correctlypplied to the facts of his casé€On June 1, 2012 the
Department of State sent an e-mail @4sory Opinion”) to Mr. Mora’s counsel

which indicated that the consular offitsedecision would not be overturned.

consider “whatever evidence has been stibth such as depositions and exhibits.”
Carroll v. U.S, 661 F.3d 87, 94 (1st Cir021) (quotation omitted).
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Plaintiffs allege that the Advisory Opinion incorrectly identified Mr. Mora’s name
and contained numerous other factual inaccurdci®aintiffs accordingly
requested a re-review of thaatter and identified the factual errors in the Advisory
Opinion. Plaintiffs never received a pesise from the Department of State to their
request for re-review.

Plaintiffs filed the instant action atuly 6, 2012. The parties thereafter
entered a Stipulation for Extension of TitaeAnswer in order to enable Mr. Mora
to attend a second immigraii interview and presentlditional evidence to the
Consular Office for consideration. Priirthe second immigration interview, Mr.
Mora obtained an opinion from Gang Pretten Specialist Peter Vasquez stating
that, based on interviews with Mr. Mora avid. Cardenas, as well as pictures of Mr.
Mora’s tattoos, Mr. Vasquez did not lmate Mr. Mora was a gang member or gang
associate. (Dkt. 13-1, p. 17.) Mr. koalso obtained acceptance into a tattoo
removal program to demonstrate his laclatthchment to any tattoo that could be
interpreted as having significance among criminal gangs.

Mr. Mora appeared at the Americ@onsulate General Visa Section at
Ciudad Juarez for a second immigrarsavinterview on November 7, 2012.
Although he was intergwed by “at least two individUs on this date, the Consular

Office refused to accept the documents Mora had brought with him, including

6 The parties have not filed a copytbé Advisory Opinion with the Court.
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the opinion of Mr. Vasquez and the doamhregarding Mr. Mora’s acceptance in
the tattoo removal program. Approximatelye month later, the Consular Office
issued a decision again denying Mr. fd@n immigrant visa under 8 U.S.C. §
1182(a)(9)(A)(i) and 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1182(a)(3)(A)(ii).

Plaintiffs allege the Consular Officedhao evidence to support a finding of
inadmissibility pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1182(ajf3(ii) and that the decision to deny
Mr. Mora’s visa was “based on uncaihgtional racial stereotypes and
unconstitutional racial discrimination,hd was “made in bad faith.” As such,
Plaintiffs allege the Government’s dentlMr. Mora’s visa application violated
Ms. Cardenas’ constitutionabtit to her marriage and meake choices regarding her
family life, as well as Plaintiffs’ constitionally protected right to procedural due
process. Plaintiffs allege the government’s actions have caused them irreparable
harm, and request the Cototorder the U.S. Consu&ato approve Mr. Mora’s
immigrant visa application.

Defendants move to dismiss for lacksobject matter jurisdiction and failure
to state a claim, assertipgdicial review is precludednder the doctrine of consular
nonreviewability, and failure to name thmper defendants. Plaintiffs counter
that, because the government did not acatthe basis of a facially legitimate and
bona fide reason,” in denying Mr. Moraigsa, the doctrine of consular

nonreviewability does not apply.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

Dismissal of a civil matter under Rule b¥(1) is appropriate if a party can
establish that the court lacks subject mgttasdiction over the claim. As federal
courts are presumptively without juristion over civil actions, the burden of
establishing jurisdiction rests upon the party claimingKkiokkonen v. Guardian
Life Ins. Co. of Am 511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994).

A motion to dismiss for failure to stadeclaim challenges éhlegal sufficiency
of the claims stated in the complainhavarro v. Block250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir.
2001). Dismissal may be $&d on the lack of cognizable legal theory or the
absence of sufficient facts allejander a cognizable legal theoralistreri v.
Pacifica Police Dep’t.901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1988). To survive a motion to
dismiss, the plaintiff must allege “enougitts to state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face.”Bell Atlantic Corp. v. TwombJ\650 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).
A claim is facially plausible when “the phaiff pleads factual content that allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference thatdefendant isdble for the misconduct
alleged.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). In deciding whether to
grant a motion to dismiss, the court mastept as true all well-pleaded factual
allegations in the pleading under attackl. A court is not, however, “required to
accept as true allegations that are nyecenclusory, unwarranted deductions of

fact, or unreasonable inferencesSprewell v. Golden State Warrigi266 F.3d
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979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001). Thus, for a comptdto survive a motion to dismiss, the
non-conclusory ‘factual content,” and readaleanferences from #t content, must
be plausibly suggestive of a claentitling the plaintiff to relief.” Moss v. U.S.
Secret Servigeb72 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir. 2009upting Twombly550 U.S. at
557).
ANALYSIS

1. Motion to Amend

Plaintiffs first filed the instant actioon July 6, 2012. As mentioned, the
parties stipulated to an extension of tifneDefendants’ answer in order to allow
Mr. Mora to present additional informati to the consular officer and to attend
second visa immigration interview. Aftdre consul again denied Mr. Mora’s visa
application upon conclusion of the secamerview, the Government filed a Motion
to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims. Plaintg thereafter filed a Motion to Amend and
attached a proposed fi@inended complaint. (Dkt. 26-1.) Plaintiff's First
Amended Complaint addslditional defendants andlegations regarding Mr.
Mora'’s second visa immigration interweand second visa denial. Defendants
argue the Motion to Amend should be dermedhe grounds of futility because this
Court lacks subject matter jurisdictidmecause the proposed First Amended
Complaint still fails to state a claim for refj and because Plaintiffs have failed to

name the proper defendants.
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Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules@ilvil Procedure governs amendments of
the pleadings before trial. Under Rule 15(a)(2), proposed amendments to the
pleadings more than twenty-one dayeathe last responsive pleading is filed
require the opposing party’s written consenteave of the court. Fed.R.Civ.P.
15(a)(2). Leave to amersthould be freely granted when justice so requirkek;
see also Morongo Band of Mission Indians v. R888 F.2d 1074, 1079 (9th Cir.
1990) (the policy of Rule 15 is “to be dgal with extreme liberality.”). A court
generally considers five factors when asseg the propriety of leave to amend: bad
faith, undue delay, prejudice to the oppagsparty, futility of amendment, and
whether the plaintiff has previously amended the complahiS. v. Corinthian
Colleges 655 F.3d 984, 995 (9th Cir. 2011). neehe only of the aforementioned
factors at issue is futility of amendmenttlas litigation is in its early stages, there is
no suggestion that Plaintiffs have acted in bad faith or urdhkldyed in bringing
their motion, and the complaint hast previously been amended.

Although futility alone is a permissibl@asis for denying a motion to amend,
Saul v. U.5.928 F.2d 829, 843 (9th Cir. 1991), the Court is guided by Rule 1 of the
Federal Rules of Civil paedure, which directs that the federal rules should be
construed and administered “to sectme just, speedy, and inexpensive
determination of every action and proceerdi Given the procedural posture of

this case, and the fact that the partiegehariefed the sufficiency of the amended
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complaint as well as that of the origirmplaint, the Court determines justice
would be served and thetmmn expedited by granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend
the complaint and proceeding to deterenine sufficiency of the complaint as
amended for purposes of considerihg pending Motion to Dismiss. The
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend will accordinglbe granted and th@ourt will consider
the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss asnotion to dismiss the First Amended
Complaint.

2. Rule 12(b)(6): Doctrine of Consular Nonreviewability

The Court first considers whether tthectrine of consular nonreviewability
prevents judicial review of Plaiffits’ claims. The Supreme Court “without
exception has sustained Congress’ plenarygodarmake rules for the admission of
aliens and to exclude those who poss$lesse characteristics which Congress has
forbidden.” Kleindienst v. Mandel08 U.S. 753, 7661972) (hereinafter
“Mandel™) (internal quotatiorand citation omitted)see also Ventura-Escamilla v.
I.N.S, 647 F.2d 28, 30 (9th Cir. 1981) (“The scagfgudicial review is necessarily
limited by the recognition that the powerdrclude or expel aliens, as a matter
affecting international relains and national security,ugsted in the Executive and
Legislative branches of government.”). hts thus been “consistently held that the

consular official’s decision to issue or withhold a visa is not subject either to
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administrative or judicial review.”Li Hing of Hong Kong, Inc. v. Levin800 F.2d
970, 971 (9th Cir. 1986).

There is, however, a limited exceaptito the doctrine of consular
nonreviewability. When the denial of a visaplicates the constitutional rights of a
U.S. Citizen, the court may exerciseHighly constrained review solely to
determine whether the consular official acta the basis of a facially legitimate and
bona fide reason.”Bustamante v. Mukas€ey31 F.3d 1059, 1060 (9th Cir. 2008).
This right to review arises froiddandel| in which United States citizen college
professors claimed a First Amendment righteceive information and ideas from
an alien. ThéMandelCourt held that when the government denies admission “on
the basis of a facially legitimate and bona fide reason, the courts will neither look
behind the exercise of that discretion, test it by balancing its justification against
the First Amendment interests of thageo seek personal communication with the
applicant.” 408 U.S. at 770. If the cormubfficial offersa facially legitimate
and bona fide reason for the visa deniabuits have no authority or jurisdiction to
go behind the facial reason to deterenwhether it is accurate[.]"Chiang v.

Skeirik 582 F.3d 238, 243 (1st Cir. 2009).

The first step in considering whether Bl#fs’ claims are subject to judicial

review is thus to determine whetheaipliffs’ constitutional rights have been

implicated. Mostofi v. Napolitanp841 F.Supp.2d 208, 211 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (A
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court “lacks jurisdiction to review a consulafficer’s denial of a visa application
when the denial fails to adverselypfitate any interest protected by the
Constitution.”);see also Saavedra Bruno v. Albrigh®7 F.3d 1153, 1163-64 (D.C.
Cir. 1999) (finding the court lacked selojf matter jurisdiction where plaintiffs
asserted no constitutional claims). Itiear that Mr. Mora, as an unadmitted and
nonresident alien, has nghit, constitutional or othenge, to enter the United
States. Mande| 408 U.S. at 76c(ting U.S. ex rel. Turner v. William494 U.S.
279, 292 (1904)J.S. ex rel. Knauff v. Shaughnes3$8 U.S. 537, 542 (1950);
Galvan v. Press347 U.S. 522, 530-532 (1954arisiades v. Shaughness42

U.S. 580, 592 (1952)). Nor does Mr. Mdhave standing to seek either
administrative or judicial review of teonsular officer’s decision to deny him a
visa. Adams v. Bakem©09 F.2d 643, 647 (1st Cir. 199@)tihg Centeno v. Shultz
817 F.2d 1212 (5th Cir.198@ert. denied484 U.S. 1005 (1988);
Ventura-Escamilla v. 1.N.S647 F.2d 28 (9th Cir.1981)).S. ex rel. Ulrich v.
Kellogg 30 F.2d 984 (D.C.Cir. 1929).S. ex rel. Ulrich v. Stimsp279 U.S. 868
(1929);Hermina Sague v. U416 F.Supp. 217, 21D(C.P.R.1976)). Thus,
while it is permissible to join Mr. Mora as“symbolic plaintiff,” it is important to
recognize that the only issue which mayabdressed by this Court is the possibility

of impairment of the constitutional right$ Ms. Cardenas, a United States citizen,
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through the exclusion of Mr. MoraAdams 909 F.2d at 64 7{ting Mande] 408
U.S. at 762).

Ms. Cardenas alleges that the governmasiaited her constitutional rights to
both procedural and substantive duegass in denying her husband’s visa
application. InBustamantethe Ninth Circuit recognized that a citizen had a
protected liberty interest imarriage that entitled the citizém limited review of the
denial of her spouse’s visa applicati 531 F.3d 1059, 1062 (9th Cir. 2008).
However, the Ninth Circuit has also heftat there is no substantive due process
right to live with one’s spouse in the United Statddorales-lzquierdo v. Dep't of
Homeland Se¢600 F.3d 1076, 1091 (9th Cir. 2070)Subsequent district courts
within the Ninth Circuit have explained that althougjiistamanteecognized a
procedural due process right to constitutiynadequate procedures in the review of

a visa application, it did not recognizeubstantive due process right to live with

7 As theMorales-lzquierdacourt explained:

To hold otherwise would creasebarrier to removing ategal alien like Morales in
any case where that alien has married a dr8tates citizen wife or fathered United
States citizen children. Seéat another way, to indulge this theory [of a substantive
due process right to live with one’s spouséhe United States$ to hold that an
illegal alien with United States citizéamily members carot be removed,
regardless of the illegality of that alieréatry into the Unitetates or conduct
while within its borders. Such a remaldte proposition, which would radically
alter the status quo of ounimigration law, simply canndie gained by judicial fiat
from an intermediate court. If theretsbe such a fundamental change in
immigration law, it must originate with the Congress or it United States
Supreme Court, and not at our level of the judiciary.

Id. at 1091.
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one’s spouse in the United StateSee, e.g., Torres v. Kerr013 WL 1386344 at

*2 (S.D. Cal. 2013) (“Itis in this context—ethassertion of a procedural due process
right—that the Ninth Circuit found iBustamantéhat the limited inquiry authorized
by Mandelwas appropriate”)Boyal v. Napolitanp2011 WL 864618 at *4 (E.D.

Cal. 2011) (IrBustamantg“the plaintiffs alleged prockiral due process violations.
They did not claim a substantive due @es protection for their right to reside
together as spouses, but merely for camsbibally adequate procedures before the
government denies that right.”). Thestinction is significant because, while
“substantive due process protects against government actions which deprive citizens
of certain rights, regardless of the faass of procedures used, procedural due
process protects citizens not from the degdron itself, but only the mistaken or
unjustified deprivation of the asserted rightBoyal at * 4 €iting Zinermon v.

Burch 494 U.S. 113, 125 (1990)).

In this case Ms. Cardenas has alleged frefendants arrived at an erroneous
conclusion in denying Mr. Mora’s visa plcation, and, in doing so, deprived her
and her husband of their fundamental righlive together. Haever, as the Court
held inMorales-lzquierdothere is no constitutionalgtt to reside with one’s
spouse in the United States. 600 F.3d at 10Bdrther, even if this Court were to
find Ms. Cardenas has a right to reside viaéin spouse in the United States, there is

no constitutional violation if a citizen’s sty interest is outweighed by competing
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state interests.Boyal at *5. As the Court held iBoyal Ms. Cardenas’ specific
right to reside with her husband iretbinited States “is greatly outweighed by
Congress’s broad powers to regulate matbténimmigration,” and there can be “no
violation of an individual’s constitutionaight to personal choice in matters of
marriage where it conflictsith the State’s sweeping powers to exclude aliens.”
Id. (citing Oceanic Navigation Steam Co. v. Strangd U.S. 320, 339 (1909)
(“over no conceivable subject is the Iglgtive power of Congiss more complete
than it is over” the admission of alienB)andel 408 U.S. at 766. Ms. Cardenas
has not suffered a substantive due process violation.

The Court’s jurisdiction over this mattaccordingly depends on whether Ms.
Cardenas has alleged a procedural doegss violation. In addition to her
substantive due process claim, Ms. Caedeasserts that she had a right to
constitutionally adequate proceduresha adjudication of her husband’s visa
application, and that the consular officédd to use such procedures when it denied
Mr. Mora’s visa application in bad faind without sufficient evidence of gang
membership. “The Supreme Court hasrded ‘straightforward’ the notion that
‘[tjhe Due Process Clause provides thataie substantive rights-life, liberty, and
property-cannot be deprived except pursuant to constitutionally adequate
procedures.” Bustamantg531 F.3d at 1062j(oting Cleveland v. Bd. of Educ. v.

Loudermill 470 U.S. 532, 541 (1985)). The first step in deciding a procedural due
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process claim is “to identify the interéstwhich the due process attaches.”
Friedrich v. Sec'y of Health & Human Sery894 F.2d 829, 838 (6th Cir. 1990).
Freedom of personal choice “in matters ofrnage and family life is, of course, one
of the liberties protected by the Due Process Claugstamanteat 1062
(citations omitted). Assuming that Ms. @anas’ allegation #&t constitutionally
inadequate procedures were utilized ingh@cessing of Mr. Mora’s visa application
is true, Ms. Cardenas, a U@izen, has claimed a procedudue process violation.
The Court thus proceeds to consideettier the reason provided by the consular
officials for the denial of Mr. Mora’s visaas “facially legitimate and bona fide.”
Id.

As the Ninth Circuit recently noted Din v. Kerry, 718 F.3d 856 (9th Cir.
2013), there is “little guidance on the applion of the ‘facially legitimate and bona
fide’ standard.” Id. at 861¢iting Marczak v. Green®71 F.2d 510, 517 (10th Cir.
1992) (“Because the ‘faciallggitimate and bona fide’ standard is used relatively
infrequently, its meaning is elusive.”). in, the Ninth Circuit held:

We agree with the Second Circuit titae identification of both a properly

construed statute that provides a ground of exclusion and the consular

officer’'s assurance that he or she ‘knaws$as reason to believe’ that the visa
applicant has done something fittimgthin the proscribed category
constitutes a facially gtimate reason.” This is consistent wBhstamantge

in which we stated that the visa &ipant ‘was denied a visa on the grounds

that the Consulate ‘had reason to badighat he was a controlled substance
trafficker.
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Id. (quoting Am. Acad. dReligion v. Napolitanpg573 F.3d 115, 126 (2d Cir. 2009)
andBustamante531 F.3d at 1062).

Here the consular officer cited todvprovisions of the Immigration and
Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(3)(A)((an alien inadmissible because a
consular officer has reason to believe he seeks to enter the United States to engage in
unlawful activity) and 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(B)(i)(Il) (an alien inadmissible for 10
years due to unlawful presence in the WhiBtates of more than one year). As
neither Plaintiffs nor Defendants disptitat Mr. Mora unlawfully resided in the
United States for more than one year,“taeially legitimate” inquiry here concerns
only the consular officer’s citation to 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(3)(A)(ii) in support of Mr.
Mora’s visa denial. The latter provision is brodd that it prohibits entry of any
alien who a “consular officer or thettArney General knows, or has reasonable
ground to believe, seeks to enter the Uni&ates to engage solely, principally, or
incidentally in ... any other unlawful aeity,” without identifying the specific
unlawful activity at issue. However, iddition to citing the statutory basis for Mr.
Mora’'s inadmissibility, the consular offer also provided the reasons for the

consul’s belief that this statute appliedMr. Mora. Specifically, the consular

8 Unlike a visa denial pursuant to 8 U.S81182(a)(3)(A)(ii), daial under 8 U.S.C. §
1182(a)(9)(B)(i)(l) is subject to vixger at the sole discretianf the Attorney General. 8
U.S.C. § 1182(a)(9)(B)(v). Under 8RIC. § 1182(a)(9)(B)(i)(I), Mr. Mora is
inadmissible until August, 201®en years from the date ledt the United States). The
Court presumes Defendants have not raisegéugon as an alternative ground to support
Mr. Mora’s inadmissibility becausedtprovision is subject to waiver.
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officer notified Plaintiffs, in various commusations, that, at the time of Mr. Mora’s
June 2008 arrest, Mr. Mora walentified as a gang assata by law enforcement,
and that the circumstances of Mr. Moraisest, as well as information gleaned
during the consular interview, gave ttensular officer sufficient “reason to
believe” that Mr. Mora has t&eto an organized street gang. (Dkt. 26-1, 119.) In
addition, the Form 1-223contained in Mr. Mora’s imigration file stated, “MORA
was identified as a Sureno gang associatey Nampa Police Department” and that
“MORA was a passenger in a vehiclermd and driven bg [REDACTED] who
had identifiers consistent to [sic]ibg a member of the Sureno gang.fd.{19.)
Because the consul provided both a statutory basis for inadmissibility and factual
allegations to support the application of statute to Mr. Morahe Court finds the
consul provided a facially legitimate reasfor the denial of Mr. Mora’s visa.
Plaintiffs recently filed a notice of Supplemental Authority (Dkt. 30) to alert
the Court to the Ninth Circuit’s holding Din v. Kerry, 718 F.3d 856 (9th Cir.
2013). Plaintiffs suggest thimse should survive dismissal und@n because the
reason cited for Mr. Mora’s visa deniabs not facially legitimate. 1Bin, the
Ninth Circuit reversed the district cdisrdismissal of a visa denial under the

doctrine of consular nonreviewability.  TBen court determined dismissal was

9 An INS Form 1-213, Record of Deportabldigh is “essentially aecorded recollection
of [an INS agent’s] conversation with the alién.Espinoza v. I.N.$45 F.3d 308, 309
(9th Cir. 1995) quoting Bustos-Torres v. I.N,898 F.2d 1053, 1056&th Cir. 1990)).
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not appropriate because the Governmentrtwddffered a facially legitimate reason
for its visa denial. In so holding,ghCourt explained the visa at issuéim was
denied on the basis of a broad provisiothef INA that excludes aliens on a variety
of terrorism-related groundwijthout any factual allegations as to how the statute
applied to the visa applicantDin does not alter this Court’s conclusion that the
Consulate provided a facially legitineateason for Mr. Mora’s exclusion.

The statute at issue Pin contained numerous categories of proscribed
conduct, ranging from direct gacipation in violent terrorist activities to indirect
support of those who parti@ge in terrorist activities.ld. at 862. In considering
the broad statutory ground for euslon cited by the Government, then Court
noted:

The first problem is compounded by th&eeping nature of the cited section

of the INA. Section 1182(a)(3)(B) ezeds 1,000 words. It contains ten

subsections identifying different egfories of alias who may be
inadmissible for terrorism reasons. Tdextion defines ‘terrorist activities’
with reference to six different subagions, containing different kinds of
conduct. It defines ‘engage terrorist activity’ inseven subsections, some
of which are divided into further subsections .... The citation to §

1182(a)(3)(B) contrasts with the mushrrower ground of inadmissibility at
iIssue inBustamante

Id.
In this case the statutory provision at issuguch more limited than that considered
in Din.  Specifically, 81182(a)(3)(A)(ii) rendeasy alien inadmissible on “security

and related grounds” where a consular offmethe Attorney Geeral knows, or has
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reasonable ground to believeethlien “seeks to enter the United States to engage
solely, principally, or incidentally in—y other unlawful activity.” There are no
subsections, no proscription of varying dsgg of activity, and no reference to other
provisions of the statute. Although, asntiened, the statute is broad in that it
generally proscribes “any other unlawédtivity,” without explanation of the
specific unlawful activity prohibited, the consular officerdgrovided factual
allegations that both unambiguously ideetifthe unlawful activity at issue (gang
association) and supported the application of 8§ 1182(a)(3)(A)(ii) to Mr. Mora.
Unlike in Din, here the Government has citeda statutory ground “narrow enough
to allow [the court] to determine thidthas been ‘properly construed.’Din, at 870
(citing Am. Acad. of Religion73 F.3d at 126).

In Bustamantgea visa application was deniadder 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(2)(C):
“Any alien who the consular officer oraghAttorney General knows or has reason to
believe is or has been dlicit trafficker in anycontrolled substance ... is
inadmissible.” 531 F.3d at 1060The Bustamante&ourt determined the
Consulate’s statement that it had “reasobelieve” that the alien at issue “was a
controlled substance trafficker,hd thus inadmissible under 8 U.S.C. §
1182(a)(2)(C), was “plainly a facially legitewe reason, as it is a statutory basis for
inadmissibility.” 1d. at 1062. UndeBustamantgcitation to a statutory basis for

inadmissibility would appear to constituddacially legitimate reason for denying a
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visa. HoweverDin clarified that theeasonfor exclusion inrBustamantavas that
“the Consulate ‘had reason to believeatthlose Bustamarjtevas a controlled
substance trafficker.” The statutevgahe reason legitimacy, but the statute
standing alone was not the reasorJin, at 862. Because the Consulate had
reason to believe Mr. Bustamante wasdficking illegal drugs and therefore
inadmissible (even though the ConsulatBustamantestated that the evidence
supporting its conclusion that Mr. Bustarteawas a drug trafficker was secret), the
Consulate had given a facially legitimaéason for denial of Mr. Bustamante’s visa
application. Here the Consulate similasbated it had reason to believe Mr. Mora
was involved in gang activity anddtrefore inadmissible under 8 U.S.C.
81182(a)(3)(A)(ii). Under botBustamantandDin, the Consulate provided a
facially legitimate reason for exclusion.

Further, théDin Court noted that other circuits reviewing a citizen’s challenge
to a visa denial “have also relied @asons for exclusion that contained some
factual elements.”ld. InDin, by contrast, the record was “completely void” of
any allegations to support the Government's visa deridl. Not only did the
Consulate fail to provide thein plaintiffs with the specific statutory subsection or
type of terrorist conduct rendering the alieadmissible, it also failed to provide
any reason at all to support applicatiorited cited statute to the applicanid.

(“Din alleges that neither she nor [Harsband] has any idea what [her husband]
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could have done to be fodimadmissible on terrorism grounds, and the Government
provides no reason other than its citatiorg 1182(a)(3)(b).”). As previously
described, here the congubvided factual allegations to support its “reasonable
ground to believe” Mr. Moraeeks to enter the United States to engage in unlawful
gang activity. 8 U.S.C. 81182(a)(3)(A)(ii). Although, as Plaintiffs contend, the
evidence of Mr. Mora’s gang membershippears minimal, this Court is not
permitted to “look behind” exclusion decisiongam. Acadof Religion 573 F.3d at
137. Instead, once the Court has satisfiedfitthat the conduct alleged fits within
the statutory provisions relied upon as thason for the visa denial,” no evidentiary
inquiry is appropriate. Din, at 863(internal quotation omittedee also Chiang v.
Skeirik 582 F.3d 238, 243 (1st Cir. 2009) (mgtithat if a facially legitimate and
bona fide reason is provided for exclusioaurts have no jurisdiction to review
evidentiary findings).

Because the consular afér provided a facially legitimate reason for Mr.
Mora’s visa denial, the first part of tiandeltest is satisfied. The Court must
accordingly turn to the second parttoé test, or whether the citation to 8
1182(a)(3)(A)(ii) was bona fide. IRustamantethe Ninth Circuit held that to
prevail under the boriade prong of thevlandeltest a plaintiff must “allege that the
consular official did not in good faithelieve the information that he had.” 531

F.3d at 1062-63. In order to withstand dissal, it “is not enough to allege that the
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consular official’s infomation was incorrect.”Id. at 1062. Nor is it enough to
allege that the alien is not and mesrer been a gang member (or, aBustamante
a drug trafficker). Id. Rather, the plaintiff mustlalge that the Consulate acted
upon information it knew to be falseld. at 1063.

Plaintiffs rely upon the NPD Letter togoort their claim that Mr. Mora’s visa
denial was made in bad faith. Specifica®aintiffs contend the denial of Mr.
Mora’s “Immigrant Visa applicationannot have been based on a good faith
determination that Plaintiff Mora B gang member becaube very entity
responsible for generating the alleged aation subsequently indicated that it had
no reason to believe Plaintiff Mora wasolved in gang activity.” (Dkt. 26-1,
146.) As Defendants note, however, Miora submitted th&lPD Letter to the
consular officer two monthefter Mr. Mora'’s visa application was first denied.
(Dkt. 11-1, p. 10.) The Consulate cannoshg&l to have acted “upon information it
knew to be false,” where it did not haueowledge of the NPRetter until after Mr.
Mora’s visa application was denied.

Moreover, although the Consié later had an opportunity to review the NPD
Letter in the process of reconsidering Mr. Mora’s visa application, the NPD Letter
does not, as Plaintiffs contend, “specifigakcant” the allegation that Mr. Mora
was involved in gang activity. (Dkt. 20,%.) Instead the NPD Letter states that

the author could not locate “criminalrggadocumentation or contacts that would
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indicate Mr. Mora Huerta was gang member prior to or thte time of his arrest”

and that Mr. Mora’s tattoos did not “specally indicate gang involvement.” (Dkt.
24-1.) However, the NPD Letter alsatsts that, during the timeframe of Mr.
Mora’s arrest, the Nampa Police Depagnt was conducting a multi-agency gang
suppression operation, and that it is tgupossible that Mr. Mora Huerta was
contacted by assisting agencies during thatftiame in the City of Nampa, but that
he was not actually arrested by Nampaceifs, therefore there would have been no
report placed into the Nampa Polidbepartment records system.ld.) Thus, the
NPD Letter suggests that the Nampa Pdlepartment could h& determined Mr.
Mora had ties to a gang, anthy have come into contaeith Mr. Mora due to his
relationship to gang activity, but that there would be no record of such contact two
years later when the NPD tter was drafted because Nilora was not arrested.

The information in Mr. Mora’s 1-213 suppottisis conclusion, as it states, “MORA
was identified as a Sureno gang associatey Nampa Police Depanent,” and that
“MORA was a passenger in a vehiclered and driven bg [REDACTED] who

had identifiers consistent to [sic] beingr@mber of the Sureno gang.” (Dkt. 26-1,
19.) Contrary to Plaintiffs’ claimshe NPD Letter does not suggest that the

consular officer acted upon information it knew to be false.
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Further, inBustamantethe court found significant that the information that
Mr. Bustamante was a drug trafficker haskeh given to the consular officer by the
head of the local DEAféice. The Court noted:
We express no opinion on the accuracy of the information; what is significant
is that the consular official relied @nfellow governmental official assigned
to investigate illicit drug trafficking. The Bustamantes do not allege that the
transfer of information between tB¥A and the Consulate never took place,
or that the Consulate &t upon information it knew to be false. On the

record before us, there is no reasohdabeve that the consular officer acted
on this information in anything other than good faith.

Id. at 1063.

Similarly, in this case, the consulafficer acted upon information provided
by the NPD. Like th&ustamant&ourt, this Court cannoéview the accuracy of
such information, but notes that consul appears to have relied upon the NPD, a
fellow government agency assignedreestigating criminal activity, in
determining Mr. Mora had ties to streenga. Plaintiffs do not suggest that the
transfer of information between the NPD and the consul never took place.
Moreover, even if the information providég the NPD to the Consulate was false,
the Consulate had no reason to believedbah information was false. Any bad
faith associated with allegedly inaccurateormation regarding Mr. Mora’s gang
activity would rest with the NPD in provity the information to the Consulate, and
not with the Consulate in relying upon sunformation. However, bad faith on

behalf of the Consulate is required in arttestate a claim. Plaintiffs have not
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alleged, nor, given the Court’s finding witbspect to the NPD Letter, do Plaintiffs
appear capable of allegingatithe consular officer wagithout reason to believe the
information provided by the NPD was accurate.

In addition to the 1-213 and the “cuimstances surrounding Mr. Mora’s
arrest,” the consular officer also statedad sufficient reason to believe Mr. Mora
had ties to an organized street gang dueftwmation Mr. Mora provided during his
interview. (Dkt. 26-1, 119.) AlthoughéhConsulate did not reveal the specific
information gleaned during the consulaienview to support its reason to believe
Mr. Mora has ties to gangs, Plaintiffs hawa alleged any facts to suggest that the
Consulate did not believe, balsen the interview, that MMora had gang ties. As
the Court stated iBustamantg'it is not enough to allegiat the consular official’'s
information was incorrect .... Und&fandel’slimited inquiry, the allegation that
the Consulate was mistaken about [Bustamante’s] involvement with drug
trafficking ... fails to stag a claim upon which relief calibe granted.” 531 F.3d at
1062-63. Plaintiffs’ claims similarly falere because theresamno allegations in
the First Amended Complaint that plaugislggest the consular officer acted upon
information it knew to be false.

Regardless of whether the consul relied upon the information provided by
the NPD, Plaintiffs contend that no reaable person could leve Mr. Mora had

gang associations because Mr. Mora’s emtin@inal history consists of failure to
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purchase a valid driver’s license, minopossession and a speeding infraction.

(Dkt. 20, p. 6.) That Mr. Mora was nenarested for gang activity does not mean
that he did not have ties to gangs, norsdbsuggest the consul could not reasonably
believe Mr. Mora had ties @angs, particularly in light of the NPD’s report that Mr.
Mora was in the company of a Surenmgassociate when he was arrested.
Plaintiffs also suggest the consul actedad faith beaase Immigration and

Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) offered Mylora the opportunity to be released on
bond, rather than requiring him to seekond from an immigration judge. 1dJ)
Plaintiffs do not provide any authority to support the contention that ICE would not
have released Mr. Mora on bond if it h@son to believe he was associated with
gangs. Moreover, Mr. Mora’s releaselwond by ICE does not alter or otherwise
effect the consul’s good faith reliamapon information provided by the NPD
regarding Mr. Mora’s gang involvement?laintiffs also suggest, “[i]f there was

any basis for the consular officer’s conclusion that he or she had reasonable grounds
to believe that Mr. Mora was a gang membePlaintiff Mora would not have been
granted voluntary departure.” (Dkt. 2641L1.) This conclusion is inaccurate, as
the Attorney General “may permit an aliesluntarily to depart the United States at
the alien’s own expense, in lieu of bgisubject to removal proceedings under the
applicable provision or prido the completion of sugbroceedings, if the alien is

not deportable under the specified provisions as an aggravated felon or a terrorist
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subject to deportation.”3B Am. Jur. 2d Alies and Citizens 8170@8iting 8 U.S.C.
8§ 1229a; 8 U.S.C. § 1229c(a)(19ke als® U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43defining the term
“aggravated felony.”). Because Mr. Monas not convicted of an aggravated
felony or suspected of terrorist activitye could be granteebluntary departure
despite involvement in gang activity. Innsudespite the facts Plaintiffs raise to
establish bad faith, the Court cannot find tonsul lacked a good faith belief in Mr.
Mora’s ties to gang activity where the NRransferred Mr. Mora to ICE because
Mr. Mora was with a Sureno gang memtbdren he was arrested, and where the
consul also relied upon information &glned during Mr. Mora’s immigration
interview” to determine hiad ties to gang activity’ (Dkt. 26-1, §19.)

Finally, the First Amended Complaint sugtgethe consular officer’'s decision

was “was based on unconstiturtal racial stereotypes and unconstitutional racial

10 Plaintiffs suggest the December 2012 denial of Mr. Mora’s second immigrant visa
application cannot haveeen made in goodith because “PlaintifiMora was not permitted
to place relevant evidence in the record for consideratitiveahterview,” and because
“Defendants had arranged the secondrinew for the purpose of receiving new
information from Plaintiff Mora and subsequikgrefused to accept the relevant evidence
proffered by Plaintiff Mora.” (Dkt. 26-1, 1147-48.) However, even if the consular
officer did not physically accept the documeMr. Mora presented during his second
immigration interview, there is no ewddce to suggest the Consulate acted upon
information it knew to be faésin denying Mr. Mora'’s visa for a second time. As
previously discussed, the consular offipesvided factual allegations to support its
finding that Mr. Mora had ties torganized street gangs. InHigof the facially legitimate
reason for denial provided byelConsulate, and in the abserf plausible allegations of
bad faith, any inquiry into the weight the Calae assigned to theidence provided by
Mr. Mora is inappropriate.Din, 718 F.3d at 863(recogni@j no evidentiary inquiry is
appropriate once a reviewing court has satigtesdf that the conduclleged fits within
the statutory provisions relied upontae reason for the visa deniak)ting Am. Acadof
Religion 573 F.3d at 134).
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discrimination.” (Dkt. 26-1, 139.) PIdiffs have not provide factual allegations
sufficient to support their claim thateltonsular officer engaged in racial
stereotyping or discrimination. Although upon ruling on a Motion to Dismiss a
court must generally accept the facts altegethe complaint as true, “wholly vague
and conclusory allegations are not su#fidito withstand a motion to dismiss.”
Mann v. City of TucsqrDept. of Police, 782 F.2d0, 793 (9th Cir.1986). The
Court appreciates that it is difficult for Piffs to provide factual support that the
consular officer acted in bad faith at this early stage of the proceedings and without
discovery. However, given the “extremelgrrow” review permitted of consular
decisions, this Court is without authgrib go behind the facial reason for the
Government’s denial to determine whether it was based on accurate information.
Din, at 861;see also Bustamantat, 1062 (as long as the reason for a visa denial is
facially legitimate and bona fide the d&ioin will not be disturbed). Because the
Court finds the consul provided a facialbgitimate and bona fide reason for Mr.
Mora’s visa denial, further review is npermitted. The First Amended Complaint
accordingly fails to stte a claim upon which refienay be granted.

3. Rule 12(b)(1): Subject Matter Jurisdiction

In the absence of a constitutional claims clear under nearly a century of

jurisprudence that the Court lacks subjaeitter jurisdiction to review a consular
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officer's visa deniaf! See, e.g., Li Hing of Hong Kong v. Lev&®0 F.2d 970,
970-71 (9th Cir. 1986) (“The doctrine of nenrewability of a consul’s decision to
grant or deny a visa stems from the Sugrélourt’s confirming that the legislative
power of Congress over the admissioraleéns is virtually complete.”);
Ventura-Escamilla v. I.N.S647 F.2d 28, 30 (9th Cir. 1981) (holding that the court
lacks jurisdiction when the “relief sougista review of the Consul’s decision
denying [an] application for a visa."$aavedra Bruno v. Albrighl97 F.3d 1153,
1159-60 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“For the greaart of this century, our court has
therefore refused to review visa decisions of consular officiaRdinero v.
Consulate of the U.Baranquilla, Colombia860 F.Supp. 319, 324 (E.D. Va.
1994) (“Although the doctrine of consular non-reviewability is not without its
critics, it is well-grounded in establishedmmiples of national sovereignty and in
sensible public policy [and] .has been well-established fmrer seventy years|.]").
However, the Supreme Courthtandelauthorized a limited right to judicial
review where a visa denial implicates twastitutional rights of a U.S. citizen and is

not made on the basis of a facidlygitimate and bona fide reasoMande| 408

11 Plaintiffs criticize the doctrine of consular nonreviewability, suggest the doctrine lacks
“legal justification,” and ask that the Codrevisit the validity of the doctrine.” (Dkt. 20,

pp. 9-12.) Regardless of Plaintiffs’ interpit&ia of consular nonregwability, this Court

has neither the inclination ntre authority to disregard a daaoe firmly established not

only throughout the district and circuit couadfsthe United States, but also by the United
States Supreme CourtSee, e.gMande| 408 U.S. at 767 (discussing significant history

of doctrine of consular nonreviewability within U.S. jurisprudence).
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U.S. at 770. Although thilandelcourt did not explicitly discuss the issue of
subject matter jurisdiction, to “the extehere is a claim for review authorized under
Mandel it is plainly a claim that arises ‘undire Constitution, laws, or treatises of
the United States,’ and is thus within fbhasdiction granted to the district courts
under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1331.”American Sociological Assoc. v. Cherté@8 F.Supp.2d
166, 174 (D. Mass. 2008). American Academy of Religiothe Second Circuit
explained that subject matterigdiction to adjudicate a vis#enial claim is “clearly
supplied” by 28 U.S.C. 81331 wheamdJnited States citizenlages a visa denial in
violation of constitutional rights. 573 F.3d at 128i(g Abourezk v. Reagaii85
F.2d 1043, 1050 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“The distrcourt had subject matter competence
in this case [involving visa denialahder ... its geneldederal question
jurisdiction].]”) (citation omitted)Burrafato v. U.S. Dept. of Statg823 F.2d 554,
556 (2d Cir. 1975) (statinglandelconsidered “an alleged violation of First
Amendment rights of American citizens owehich the federal courts clearly had
jurisdiction.”). Given Ms. Cardenas’ predural due procesfiegation, the Court
has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 \IC.8 1331. However, because the
Court finds the governmentgaa “facially legitimate ad bona fide reason” for the
denial of Mr. Mora’s visa petition, furtheeview of the denial is neither necessary
nor appropriate. American Sociological AssQ&88 F.Supp.2d at 172i(ing

Mande| 408 U.S. at 770).
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Plaintiffs argue that a federal question is also presented because the relief
sought is available under the APA, 59.C. § 701(a)(2). This argument is
inaccurate, as the APA includes the reseowvethat “[n]othing herein ... affects
other limitations on judicial review of th@ower or duty of the court to dismiss any
action or deny relief on anylogr appropriate legal @guitable ground.” 5 U.S.C.
§ 702(1). The agency action challeddere—Mr. Mora'’s visa denial—is
generally precluded from judicial review bye longstanding doctrine of consular
nonreviewability. American Sociological AssQ®&88 F.Supp. 2d at 174.
Assuming Ms. Cardenas qualifies as espa “suffering legal wrong because of
agency action,” review of the denial of MMlora’s visa application is foreclosed
except to the extent authorized by Mandelexception to the doctrine of consular
nonreviewability*> 5 U.S.C. § 702.

Given the Court’s holding that subjeugtter jurisdiction is provided under
28 U.S.C. 81331, it need not address Wwhethe additional statutes cited by

Plaintiffs (8 U.S.C. 8110&t. segand 28 U.S.C. § 1361) provide alternate grounds

12 Moreover, the APA does nas Plaintiffs contend, prade a federal court with an
independent basis for jurisdiction. (Dkt. 208p. Instead, the APA prescribes standards
for judicial review of an agency actioonce jurisdiction is already establisheduscon
Airport Auth. v. General Dynamics Cord36 F.3d 641, 645 (9thiCiL998) (“It is beyond
guestion that ... that the APA does not prowaaeindependent basis for subject matter
jurisdiction in the district courts.”see also Romer&60 F.Supp. at 2(E.D. Va., 1994)
(“Nor can plaintiffs rescue #ir claims from the doctrine @onsular nonreviewability by
citing the APA. The APA provides no imptiggrant of subject matter jurisdiction to
review consular decisions.”§i{ing Califano v. Sandergt30 U.S. 99, 105 (1977)).
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for jurisdiction. Nor, given the disissal of this matteunder Federal Rule
12(b)(6), need the Courbnsider Defendants’ claims that this case should be
dismissed for failure taame the proper defendarits.
ORDER
1. Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend their Complaint (Dkt. 26) GRANTED.
For the reasons stated herein, @wairt has considered Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss (Dkt. 11) as a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First
Amended Complaint.
2. Pursuant to Federal Rule 12(b)@@fendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Dkt.
11) isGRANTED and Plaintiffs’ claims ar®1 SM1SSED with
prejudice.
3. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Order Instructing Defendants to Immediately

Answer Complaint (Dkt. 12) i1OOT.

13 Plaintiffs have had the opponity to amend theicomplaint to include facts to indicate
the consul’s visa denial was not facially legisite and bona fide. The facts alleged in the
First Amended Complaint do not plausibly sugglestconsul acted on either the basis of a
facially illegitimate reason or that the conaated in bad faith. Because the primary basis
for Plaintiffs’ bad faith allegation is the NIPLetter, and because t@®urt has determined
the NPD Letter does not suggest the constiddam bad faith, th€ourt cannot imagine
facts sufficient to supportsecond attempt to amend tt@mplaint. This case is
accordingly dismissed with prejudice.
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SOORDERED.

DATED: August 19, 2013

(LA

dward J. Lodde~  /
United States District Judge
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